

THE NEUROSCIENCE OF PERFORMANCE PAGEUP WHITE PAPER

People at their Best











CONTENTS

Executive Summary

Part One: Understanding Performance

The goal of having goals Motivation and the brain Flow and peak performance Optimal arousal and flow

Part Two: Performance Levers

The body and performance

- Sleep
- Nutrition
- Physical exercise

The mind and performance

- Multi-tasking and dual task interference
- Mindfulness
- Brain training

The performance environment

- Leadership impact
- Social connections

Part Three: Organizational Practices

What's wrong with performance management? Performance feedback Multi-sourced feedback Improving individual performance Creating high performance workplaces

Closing Comments

Interesting Reading

References

About the Author

Performance.

Have you ever known someone who aspired to poor performance? Or an organization that intentionally fostered a culture of mediocrity? Probably not – in fact these concepts seem quite absurd. Yet organizations seem to operate as if achieving high performance (in individuals and corporate cultures) was something contrary to natural human desire.

Human resources practitioners and business people alike know that high performance is paramount to business success. So they must surely be troubled by survey after survey, year after year, confirming the same levels of dissatisfaction and disillusionment with performance management processes. Rarely do managers or employees have anything positive to say, and most are predictably unimpressed with the process revisions and interventions planned for the following year.

In this paper we seek to understand human performance and its management by organizations through new insights emanating from the field of neuroscience.

In **Part One**, **Understanding Performance**, we step back from performance systems and processes to look behind the key drivers of human performance and discretionary effort.

Part Two, **Performance Levers**, explores what we now know through science about the body and mind and how performance is impacted by our physiology and psychology. We also explore how interactions with others impact us consciously and subconsciously.

Part Three, **Organizational Practices**, considers what currently works and does not work, and how mindful leaders can use new information to reframe the performance paradigm.

If you have no time to read white papers, the **Executive Summary** will give you some food for thought.

We trust that this work will contribute to thought leadership in the field of performance management, and provoke the current influencers of organizational direction to ask more questions and challenge the status quo.

SVS July 2011



Executive Summary

This top ten table summarizes the key messages contained in this white paper:

Part 1: Understanding performance		
Setting goals focuses the brain's filter systems to selectively attend to information in the environment directly relevant to achievement of the goal.	Key Message Goal-setting channels attention and	
We are motivated to approach or avoid situations and people based on the reward or threat content of the perceived interaction. This motivation is biologically underpinned by the balance of neuro-chemical agents in the brain.	activates brain states that motivate us to pursue them	
Superior performance results not from stress states but from optimal arousal inducing the flow state. Flow results from immersion and focused concentration and activates unique brain wave activity.		
Part 2: Performance Levers		
Sleep , nutrition and physical exercise are key physiological levers that can contribute to, and detract from, cognitive performance.	Key Message	
Mindfulness practice leads to improvements in focus, attention, and mental well-being through in-the-moment sensory presence and full engagement.	mental state impacts performance potential and can be	
Multi-tasking diffuses attention, compromises memory and can impede high performance.	proactively cultivated	
Part 3: Organizational practices		
Leaders have the positional power to influence the threat and reward factors present in the work environment .	Key Message Many existing workplace practices designed to promote high performance fail this objective and can be improved	
Studies of performance feedback interventions show that while 30% of such interventions improve performance, another 30% have no effect and 40% actually make things worse.		
The new performance equation requires that we must develop and		
measure both capability and capacity.	be improved	

Part One: Understanding Performance

The goal of having goals

How would you measure performance at all if there were no goals?

Setting goals is a clear pre-requisite for measuring their attainment. Goals provide an end point or target, against which we can determine performance – successful or otherwise. We aspire to goal achievement – goals represent our progress over time and when achieved, provide a sense of completion and satisfaction. In this way, goals are integral to giving meaning and purpose to our lives.

What can neuroscience tell us about goals? When we set goals, we immediately channel our attention. In its default state, the brain is noisy with dozens of fleeting thoughts and our own internal narrative. Once we focus our attention on anything, we redirect random neural firing patterns to focused pathways committed to addressing the current challenge: whether that is completing a report by midday or deciding tonight's dinner. From all the possible ways in which we could deploy our energy, a specific and measurable goal immediately creates focus and energy toward its achievement.

An interesting change occurs in our brain when we commit to a goal. Once we **consciously focus** on a goal, the brain **subconsciously evaluates** goal-relevant information in our environment that is consistent with achieving the goal. Like a radar, it selectively notices incoming data that may contribute to or influence the goal. Concurrently, the brain inhibits irrelevant information to protect our delicate cognitive capacities from overload. In a study designed to determine whether subconscious goal-relevant factors would contribute to conscious perceptions, researchers found this was indeed the case. Tasked with recruiting an investigative news reporter, among whose traits rudeness and aggression were deemed to be desirable, interviewers also evaluated individuals who interrupted the interview rudely and aggressively more positively than those that apologized politely¹.

Goals also motivate work performance. Recent neuroscience research provides an interesting perspective. Findings show that we gain **more satisfaction** from reviewing completed goals (compared to those yet to be completed), however we are **more motivated** by what still needs to be done². In effect, achieving a goal is fulfilling, while focusing on a goal to pursue is energizing. So through their effect on attention and motivation, goals are fundamental to any discussion on performance.

Motivation and the brain

Our drive to take action, achieve goals and exert effort emanates from some of our deepest and oldest brain regions. Motivation is a survival necessity, so the neural circuitry developed for it is both extensive and heavily interconnected.

You probably consider motivation a matter of conscious choice: whether you will go out for dinner tonight with friends or stay home alone and watch a movie. In the brain, decision-making, planning and control are predominantly 'top-down' processes (that is, guided by conscious prefrontal cortical activity) and with this comes responsibility or our actions³. But even seemingly simple choices like these are influenced by subconscious needs, priming and expectations. Evolution has something to say about your choices⁴. To ensure our survival, subconscious systems have evolved to balance our choices on an approach-avoid spectrum. When we are motivated to pursue something, we trigger approach mechanisms that are reinforced by the neuro-chemical dopamine. By activating this system, we receive bio-feedback that the activity is good, rewarding, enjoyable. This reinforces the positive flow and we pursue it further.



Goals are integral to giving meaning and purpose to our lives





An altogether different neuro-chemical is released when we are confronted by an avoid scenario. Serotonin floods neural pathways and activates the hypothalamus (which triggers the fight/flight response in the body) if the threat is close, and the amygdala and ventral prefrontal cortex (combining emotion and inhibition) if the threat is distant⁵. The chemical balances in our neural networks are key to reinforcing how we feel, and consequently respond, to situations we are exposed to every day.

There are also significant individual variations in how we are motivated to pursue goals. Reinforcement sensitivity theory, originally developed in the 1970's by psychologist John Gray, differentiates between reward and punishment sensitivity, which influences the emotions associated with our motivation to pursue a goal. Individuals with a **reward disposition** experience positive emotions such as hope and elation when considering a goal. The neuro-chemical dopamine would be causing and reinforcing these positive emotions. As a result, the goal feels right and there is motivation to move toward, or approach it. Those with a punishment disposition are more likely to view goals with a fear of failure lens. The risk that the goal may not be able to be achieved generates the negative emotions of fear and anxiety, reinforced by the neuro-chemical serotonin. The prospect of the goal feels uncomfortable and the consequent motivation is to avoid it. Recent

neuroscience studies confirm the behavioral activation and inhibition foundations of Gray's mode⁶.

Motivation is a complex construct and its differing manifestation in individuals highlights the challenges associated with motivating employees in the workforce. The need to tailor leadership approaches, intrinsic and extrinsic rewards, incentives, benefits and recognition are becoming the focus of some of the world's best employers⁷.

Flow and peak performance

Perhaps you've experienced flow.

You are absorbed in your activity. It may be a sporting passion, a musical endeavor, writing, reading or a project you're working on. It seems to come naturally, effortlessly to you. You almost become 'lost' in the experience – time disappears, you are unaware of potential distractions. You feel



energized, elated, alive. You are in 'the zone'.

In his seminal book, *Flow: the psychology of optimal performance*, Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi describes the eight hallmarks of being in a state of flow⁸:

- · working on a challenging activity that requires skills
- being able to concentrate on it
- the activity has clear goals
- it provides immediate feedback
- you have deep but effortless involvement
- you have a sense of control
- concern for the self disappears
- the duration of time is altered.

Flow states are achievable in all aspects of life - work, leisure, relationships. We achieve optimal levels of performance in the flow state: we are more creative, more productive and more satisfied. So it would appear to be a worthy goal to pursue activities that allow flow to manifest. As flow typically results from immersion and heightened focus and attention, this presents interesting challenges in the fast-paced and multi-tasking world of work.



You almost become lost in the experience - you are in the zone Studies of expert performance, such as in highly accomplished musicians, sports people and mathematicians, show that intuitive processes support linear thinking. This means we tap into all our cognitive resources to achieve top performance, whether engaged in a "left brain" analytical task, or a "right brain" creative one. Experts are better able to tap into their creativity and use their gut instinct. The brains of experts also show greater focus and neural efficiency when applying their expertise. This suggests that the brain performs better and faster in the area of expertise due to structural refinement of neural pathways and networks associated with that area of specialization. Finally, and importantly, expert brains are able to remain 'cool' and focused despite pressure or distraction, and rely on emotional cues for decision-making but regain prefrontal focus before taking action⁹.



Optimal arousal and flow

Yerkes-Dodson developed the Optimal Arousal Curve¹⁰ to explain the relationship between levels of arousal (or stress) and their impact on performance. The curve shows that both insufficient and extreme levels of arousal yield the same result: poor performance. High performance requires enough arousal to energize and focus, but not so much that anxiety and panic freeze cognition and action. At the low and end of the curve we are bored and apathetic – yet at the extreme we experience burnout if we are chronically trapped in a high stress environment.



Once again, neuro-chemicals play a key role in our mental state as we respond to stress. The stress hormone cortisol is released into our brain pathways when we exceed our stress threshold, triggering adrenalin release and the fight/flight/ freeze response. Burnout occurs because our bodies were not designed to be exposed to these powerful chemicals for more than a very short period of time.



Researcher, Dr Craig Hassed has extended the concept of optimal arousal to build in the effect of flow, or being in 'the zone'. In Hassed's model, being in the zone is represented by both low states of stress and high performance¹¹. Quite opposite to the 'adrenalin rush' that accompanies performance under stress, optimal performance occurs when a calm and focused state of mind is achieved. This relaxed mindset can also range across the spectrum, from inertia, apathy or procrastination through to extreme states of immersion and attunement.

Neuroscience has also shown that calm brain states, represented by alpha brainwaves, are necessary to create the conditions for the aha! experience, also known as insight, which results from a burst of gamma wave activity preceded by this restful brain state.

Our assumptions about what motivates high performance clearly need to be reviewed. The modern workplace is addicted to activity, speed and short term outcomes. However, contrary to common belief, when it comes to the volume and velocity of brain activation required for us to be at our best, **less is more**.

Part Two: Performance levers

The body and performance

Sleep

In our previous white paper, *The Neuroscience of Learning & Development*¹², we explored the role of sleep in memory consolidation and learning integration. Research shows the critical role of sleep in the memory encoding process, an essential prerequisite for learning. Here we focus on the role of sleep in cognitive performance. Most empirical studies have addressed this topic via research into sleep deprivation.

What is the effect of sleep loss on our ability to think and perform? Measures of cognitive performance in sleep research focus on tasks requiring attention, working memory, decision making, judgment and memory encoding. In all cases, when we are subject to sleep deprivation, the news is generally not good.

Studies distinguish between **acute sleep deprivation**, defined as short bouts (24-72 hours) of complete sleep loss, and **chronic partial sleep restriction**, defined as continued periods of less than normal quantity of sleep (for example 3-5 hours sleep when the individual's 'normal' pattern is 7-8 hours). Performance in cognitive tasks shows a consistent deterioration in both acute and chronic forms of sleep deprivation. However recovery from chronic partial sleep loss is slower¹³. Age and gender differences have also been noted:

- young adults (under 30 years) perform poorer than their older counterparts (50-60 years) following periods of sleep deprivation – whilst at the same time more confidently and inaccurately overestimating their abilities
- women, whilst reporting more sleep problems than men, perform better than their male counterparts when sleep-deprived.

Other research shows that our ability to accurately detect emotions tied to threat (angry faces) and reward (happy faces), becomes blunted, especially in women, when sleep deprived. This infers that we are less adept at reading social cues and responding appropriately when affected by sleep loss¹⁴.

Current studies are also looking beyond task performance to cognitive performance, showing that the brain's default network (an unfocused state to which we default regularly when not concentrating on anything specific) is also negatively affected by sleep deprivation¹⁵. Given the default network's role in real-time information integration throughout the day, mental performance would again appear to be compromised.

There is now a compelling body of evidence that ties our performance, be it professional or personal, to adequate levels of sleep. Chronic sleep loss negatively affects focus, memory and cognition, thereby impacting productivity and relationships, and overall well-being.

Nutrition

In addition to sleep, the brain has some other basic requirements essential to its performance. This resource-hungry organ demands approximately 20% of the body's energy output, which explains why we are less focused, tolerant and productive when we are hungry.

Here's why. When we are actively using our conscious brains, many more neurons are firing than when we are at rest. The firing of a neuron is an electrical charge that travels along the axon of a neuron, which triggers neurotransmitter release at the axon terminal, causing excitation of the next neuron, which continues the chain by sending the next electrical charge. Do this millions of times in a short timeframe and you need a lot of energy. Effectively, the more you are using your



We are less adept at reading social cues and responding appropriately when affected by sleep loss.



conscious brain - for example, to develop a new idea, understand unfamiliar concepts or information, remember, plan, analyze or even inhibit your instinctive reactions in a difficult conversation - the higher the energy requirements of the neurons tasked with completing these actions. This is why we often feel mentally exhausted after a long, hard day.

The body metabolizes nutrients to create energy. The primary source of nutrition for the brain comes in the form of glucose, so it comes as no surprise that maintaining adequate levels must be essential to optimal performance. Numerous studies show the link between glucose and other blood sugars and performance, from normal functioning to elite athletes. Below normal blood glucose concentrations have been shown to result in a 20% reduction in physical performance and similar degradation in cognitive functioning.

Extensive interest and research continues to improve our understanding of the direct effects of diet on the brain. Recent work highlights some of the nutrients necessary for optimal brain functioning:

- **IRON**: numerous studies show improved cognitive performance (memory, attention, concentration and reasoning abilities), particularly in women of reproductive age, when adequate iron levels were maintained¹⁶.
- FLAVONOIDS: protect the brain from neurotoxins and can prevent and reverse deterioration in cognitive performance¹⁷. Foods rich in flavonoids include licorice, green tea, apples, blueberries, raspberries, cabbage, pinto and black beans. Flavonoids are also rich in antioxidants and complement the effects of Vitamin C.
- FISH OIL: omega-3 fatty acids are now known to support brain functioning and are particularly important in the developing brain. Omega-3 nutrients are found in fish and sea foods, and poultry and eggs to a lesser degree. Also important are soybean and canola oils¹⁸.

Physical exercise

Exercise is also an important factor in brain function. Regular, moderate exercise oxygenates the blood circulating through the brain and results in numerous benefits. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) stimulates neurogenesis, the growth of new brain cells, and is increased as a result of voluntary physical activity. Exercise also reinforces neuroplasticity, resulting in improved cognitive performance and learning¹⁹.

Studies of aging repeatedly show less age-related brain tissue shrinkage in physically fit subjects compared to sedentary controls. Improved cognitive performance is most evident in executive functions such as attention, planning and organizing when subjects perform a minimum of 30 minutes of aerobic exercise per session²⁰. However new studies show that intense and excessive exercise regimes can have detrimental effects on the immune system, depressing immune function and increasing allostatic load ²¹. Notwithstanding, the benefits of regular physical exercise on both body and brain are undisputed.

The mind and performance

Multi-tasking and dual task interference

Who hasn't done it? You are driving your car, on your cell-phone, and scribbling down a name or phone number – all at the same time. You are multitasking.

It is possible to multi-task – in effect, we are doing it all the time: cooking a meal whilst watching television or taking down notes whilst listening to a presentation. This impressive capability can be attributed to your basal ganglia. This complex set of sub-cortical structures stores your life experiences and creates and maintains your habits. The basal ganglia stores the fail-safe programs that allow you to run on auto-pilot. Any action or thought that is repeated numerous times, such as brushing your teeth, typing on a keyboard or knowing that you are bad with street directions, plays like a recorded program that does not even require conscious thought to activate or implement it.



Like an enormous data warehouse, the basal ganglia holds the records of every skill you have acquired, every emotion you regularly experience and every habit, good or bad, you have ever established. Being able run several of these stored programs concurrently means we can multi-task.

Unfortunately, it is the prefrontal cortex, and not the basal ganglia, that you require to hold current information in working memory, consciously process that information and deal with new or complex issues. There is no autopilot here.

While the basal ganglia operates by distributed association and can draw on

Myths of Multi-tasking

Myth: multi-tasking makes you more productive

Fact: Each additional task you undertake concurrently with others reduces performance in them all.

Myth: you can rebound quickly from distractions

Fact: It can take up to 15 minutes to restore concentration following a distraction due to a refractory period in the brain.

almost unlimited capacity, the prefrontal cortex operates via serial processing, has limited daily capacity, and struggles constantly with what to prioritise and bring to conscious thought. Requiring a serial processor to multi-task is a tall order. Studies of dual task interference²² have shown that performance deteriorates significantly as soon as we attempt more than one cognitive task at a time. Even though we can comfortably undertake several programmed tasks simultaneously, this is not true of tasks requiring conscious thinking. Try reading an article while watching the news, or adding a list of numbers while someone is speaking to you. Comprehension and retention on both tasks will be compromised. Recent studies into multi-tasking specifically show deficits in memory and learning when juggling cognitive load.

Despite workplace pressure to the contrary, multi-tasking can be and in many cases is, an impediment to performance.

Mindfulness



mindlessly half-listening to conversations, multi-tasking numerous activities and reactively following the bouncing ball as one distraction after another derails us.



Mindfulness requires focused attention. Attention is required for concentration, comprehension and long term memory formation. The brain-wave state associated with alert attention is alpha, which represents a 'quiet brain', in contrast to the busy beta waves of a buzzing brain.

When our minds are shifting from one thought and one activity to the next in rapid succession, we are in a beta state. Studies show that suppression of irrelevant stimuli is a critical factor in task performance: filtering in the right information and filtering out distractions is fundamental to memory and performance²⁴.



Focus and concentration are can be challenging. We also unwittingly experience 'attentional blink': a gap in our concentration of up to half a second before we are able to receive further information²⁵. All these factors result in the mental distractions we experience thousands of times a day, potentially reducing our effectiveness and performance.

Mindfulness training uses mediation techniques to build attentiveness and alpha wave concentration. With its roots in eastern Buddhist meditation, mindfulness is simply the nurturing of focus in the present moment, connecting with the sensory environment, giving awareness to the 'now'. And practicing mindfulness has an intriguing positive effect on performance. The structure of neural connections changes and strengthens in those that regularly engage in mindfulness practice. In fact, the brains of meditators show greater cortical thickness (neural density) than those of nonmeditators²⁶. Studies have also shown distinctly different neural activation patterns in participants who have undertaken mindfulness training²⁷ and that such training, even for short durations, can lead to significantly improved levels of attention and emotional regulation²⁸.

There is empirical evidence that mindfulness²⁹:

- reduces the physiological and psychological effects of stress
- correlates with emotional intelligence, and
- improves well-being and happiness.

Organisations such as Microsoft have incorporated mindfulness training into their leadership programs to take leaders to the next dimension of personal and professional development³⁰. This low key, no cost, minimal effort technique appears to have tremendous influence on our mental wellbeing, and offers real results for those seeking to increase their effectiveness across all aspects of life.

Brain training

Somewhat controversial is the contribution to cognitive performance of brain training, which is experiencing a surge in popularity. Based on the principle of "use it or lose it" a plethora of brain training models and interventions are now readily available. Brain training methods aim to challenge participants in verbal, numerical, visual and spatial tasks, with the predominant goal of improving attention and memory.

Brain training is purported to tap into the brain's natural neuroplasticity: neurons are continually 'rewiring' through the process of learning. Structural changes occur in the brain as a result of this plasticity, and brain training advocates hope to generate new neural pathways as well as reinforce existing ones, through the conscious activation and 'exercising' of these brain cells.

One of the challenges with effective brain training is the practice effect, as the brain is particularly adept at 'hard-wiring' any cognitive or motor skill that is the subject of repetition. Studies of brain training efficacy also question the transfer effect: does brain training improve generalized cognitive function, or only performance on the specific tasks that are the content of the training?

For now, the jury is out on the long term advantages of brain training. That said, it is certain to do no harm, and future research into neuroplasticity should result in emerging methods that tap into the brain's natural propensity to learn.

The performance environment

Leadership impact

Leadership models have evolved over the past half century, predominantly focused on defining the key behavioral attributes of effective leaders, as determined by their impact on the performance of individuals, teams and organizations. From situational leadership (Blanchard) to transformational leadership (Burns) to emotional intelligence (Goleman), leadership models have aimed to guide behavior to toward optimal performance.

Situational	Transformational	Emotional
Leadership	Leadership	Leadership
Directing Coaching Supporting Delegating	Idealized influence Inspirational motivation Intellectual stimulation Individualized consideration	Self awareness Self regulation Self motivation Social awareness Social skills

Empirical studies have shown that effectively executed behaviors underpinning transformational leadership³² and emotional intelligence do, in fact, positively impact performance.

The application of neuroscience to the domain of leadership has spawned the new and specific academic field of Neuroleadership³³. The neuroscience perspective on leadership differs from behavioral approaches insomuch as it aims to identify the biological basis for behavior and how this subsequently translates to the performance of leaders and their impact on others. In this way, neuroscience seeks to explain, not just describe, leadership behavior and human performance.



Leaders play a crucial role in creating environments that foster threat and/or reward In our first white paper in the neuroscience series, *The Neuroscience of Talent Management*³⁴, we introduced the SCARF Model³⁵ as a method of understanding how threat and reward are manifested in the workplace – here we use it to understand the impact a leader may have on individual, team and organizational performance.

Leaders play a crucial role in creating environments that foster threat and/or reward. There are direct implications on the performance of individuals and teams exposed to these environments. In a state of threat, the prefrontal cortex, with its conscious and controlled thinking processes, is effectively shut down by the significantly stronger forces of the limbic system. This subconscious brain region bases thinking on automatic patterns that have been 'tried and true', as well as self preservation in the face of the perceived threat. As a result, performance is driven by fear or anxiety, inducing the stress state (in turn releasing the stress chemical cortisol), which was earlier shown to compromise performance outcomes.

When employees work with a leader that promotes reward states, the opposite psychological and physiological effects occur. The prefrontal cortex is active and integrates positively with the limbic system. The reward chemical dopamine is released into the central nervous system in response to engagement in a challenging but supportive environment, and optimal performance can be achieved.

It is through the influence they have on others that leaders are seen to be in a position of power. Leaders can unleash optimal performance in their employees



Leaders have significant influence on the conditions in which employees work, for better or for worse. Actions leaders can take to create threat or reward states include:

Status

Certainty

Fairness

Threat

Reducing self esteem or self worth through personal criticism, removal of status symbols or lack of recognition

Destabilizing employees through continual or unexplained change, shifting goal-posts or inconsistent behavior

Micro-managing employees, undermining delegated authorities, bureaucratic restrictions, 'one-size-fits-all' approach

Failing to value the importance of personal relationships on teamwork, customer service, morale and engagement

Favoritism, bias, inconsistency, failure to 'walk the talk'

when they exert this power in ways that inspire and support, rather than threaten and demoralize, their teams.

Social connections

People work for many complex reasons that are beyond the scope of this paper. From a neuroscience perspective, the workplace provides a forum for our need to build social relations as well as our aspirations for meaning and purpose.

Research now clearly highlights that the human brain has evolved advanced circuitry dedicated to our social connections, on par with other survival instincts such as the need for food and water. Pain receptors in the brain activated by physical pain sensations are equally activated by social pain, such as rejection or personal criticism³⁶. This highlights that the workplace can be a source of great social satisfaction or disappointment, depending on what we experience.

Best practices are highlighting the need for performance management processes to be more 'collaborative' in both their design and implementation³⁷, including:

- aligning goals more collaboratively and frequently
- supporting better performance communication
- helping managers have better performance conversations, and
- improving the link between performance and development

Reward



All these activities relate to the 'soft skills' of performance management, rather than process and compliance.

The workplace hones our interpersonal skills. It is the place in which we will experience achievement with and through others, diverse opinions and ideas and challenging conflicts. We develop distinct neural networks through our workplace interactions, to refine abilities such as empathy, emotional regulation and social cohesion. We learn how to relate more effectively, influence others and temper our instincts.

We cannot underestimate the importance of social relations and networks to individual and team performance.

Part Three: Organizational practices

What's wrong with performance management?

A recent worldwide survey of nearly 400 organizations confirmed that the impact of the global financial crisis translated into even higher productivity and performance demands from fewer employees, whilst still pursuing business growth. Aligning business goals to individual performance, leveraging process efficiencies and fostering high performance cultures are seen to be key to survival in our post-GFC world³⁸. The business case for performance management is clear.

"Perhaps no talent management process is more important or more reviled than performance management"³⁹. It appears that despite common agreement that setting goals and measuring their achievement are critical management functions, the past few decades of advances in performance management models, processes and technology have done little to advance satisfaction with this universal organizational activity.

Factors continuing to contribute to dissatisfaction with organizational performance management include:

- static annual events rather than real time dynamic exchanges (for both goal setting and performance reviews)
- poor line of sight between organizational and individual performance goals
- disconnect between performance management, learning and development and career planning
- insufficient skills or support for managers and employees to implement the process effectively
- timeliness, accessibility and engagement.

Most approaches to performance management still place their emphasis on process and mechanics at the expense of communicating clear and simple messages and engaging employees to achieve their own performance potential. Process rigidity, complexity and formality and poor communication skills repeatedly surface in surveys of dissatisfied performance reviewers and reviewees.

If the diagnosis is clear, corrective remedies should be within our reach to source and administer.





The results of performance feedback have to make you wonder:

30% Leads to improvement

30% Has no effect

40% Makes things worse





Performance feedback

Whether giving or receiving it, adverse performance feedback appears to have the uncanny effect of evoking a threat state in just about every human being. Holding the 'difficult discussion' creates tension, and for some, anxiety, often disproportionate to the weight or implications of the feedback.

Goal setting appears to be better accepted and executed than the review and feedback process. When there is negative content in feedback, studies show that the benefit of receiving it, in order to improve future performance, for example, is limited by⁴⁰:

- failure to obtain it (recipients avoid receiving it to maintain self esteem, and givers avoid offering it because they know it is both painful and usually unwelcomed), and
- 2. failure to accurately appraise the feedback (by relying on non-content cues, effects of low self-esteem or perceptions of high performance).

Even more concerning is that increases in interventions to improve performance management appear to have had counterproductive results. Certainly, the results of performance feedback have to make you wonder: in a meta-analytic study of performance feedback interventions, it was concluded that while 30% of such interventions improve performance, another 30% have no effect and 40% actually make things worse⁴¹. Feedback was most likely to generate positive outcomes when it was directed at the task rather than the attributes of the individual.

Performance feedback requires that we confront information that, no matter how objective, unleashes subconscious emotions. This limbic response is instant and difficult to suppress, and the more we perceive to be at stake, the harder it is. At the core of our reactions to feedback is the complex and critical role social relationships have on the brain.

Multi-sourced feedback

Multi-sourced feedback (MSF) in the context of performance management has been the source of some controversy in the field of human resources management. Most frequently used to constructively identify development needs and inform an individual development plan, MSF and performance appraisal do have common aspects.

A review of MSF literature and applied practice highlights the following common attributes⁴²:

- the need for organizational context, and specifically how the feedback relates to organizational and individual goals, as well as alignment with other human resources activities
- the need for trust and honesty in feedback gathering and communication
- individual differences matter: better responses to feedback occur when individuals:
 - have high self esteem and an internal locus of control
 - demonstrate the traits of extraversion and conscientiousness
 - have a learning goal versus performance goal orientation
- negative feedback is considered to be less accurate than positive feedback, and likely to anger and discourage
- follow-up post feedback is critical
- feedback is linked to subsequent goal-setting.

Implemented well, MSF provides layered feedback points that can increase an employee's responsiveness and commitment to improve. It can also have the positive effect of reinforcing an open feedback culture.

Improving individual performance

In order to maximize performance and achieve potential, there has been a concerted focus on the development of capability: skills and behavioral competencies. This is true at all levels, from teamwork, sales and customer service, to management and leadership development.

The development of capability does not, however, address the aspect of capacity: the ability to process, store and integrate these capabilities and apply them effectively. It is through attention to our cognitive processes that we can enhance our mental capacities, through practices such as mindfulness training. The combination of developing both **capability and capacity** is seen as the next level of performance enhancement⁴³.

This can be presented in the form of an equation, in which the sum total of developing capability (represented by technical and behavioral competencies) and capacity (represented by mindfulness training and practice) result in heightened performance (observed in both proficiency and job satisfaction).



This recognizes that the absence of any component means the equation cannot be solved. By developing a leader's capability, for example, he achieves heightened states of awareness of what effective leadership is, as well as how to change or manage his behaviors that reflect this. Many leaders have undertaken numerous such programs over the years and built considerable **proficiency** in their leadership capability.

Less, if any, attention has been placed on that leader's **capacity to implement their leadership capability**, which is a distinct skill and mindset. Capacity is a function of the leader's ability to focus and attend to performance-relevant tasks and activities for themselves and their teams, as well as managing personal stress to optimize effectiveness. Managed well, this contributes to the leader's job **satisfaction**, which in turn reinforces the positive performance cycle. Advanced leadership and professional development should address all factors in the performance equation.



The combination of developing both capability and capacity is seen as the next level of performance enhancement



Creating high performance workplaces

How would you define a high performance workplace? No two workplaces are exactly alike and therefore no one-size-fits-all answer applies, however there are certain elements associated with highly productive work environments that consistently appear in the research^{44, 45}:



Organizations have the opportunity to think strategically about job design, performance measures, workplace structures and leadership values and behaviors, all of which can contribute to creating a workplace conducive to high performance.

Closing comments

At the heart of human satisfaction is what we achieve, individually and together. Performance therefore, is not something that needs to be demanded, enforced or driven: it occurs through intrinsic motivation and our yearning for meaning and purpose. We strive to perform and achieve our potential.

Neuroscience is beginning to show what biological factors are at work when we experience the pains and pleasures of success and failure. Embedded in our DNA and reinforced and expanded through learning, are the physiological and psychological states that contribute to our performance.

We can only be dissatisfied with performance management in the workplace because our systems and processes fail to tap into the essence of what really drives performance. Science is now highlighting some of these driving factors, which will serve to inform future organizational practices. With this will evolve new paradigms of work and interaction, creating the possibility for performance levels rarely achieved in the present day.

Interesting reading

On understanding the brain:

Tell-tale Brain: Unlocking the Mystery of Human Nature V.S. Ramachandran

On leadership and the brain:

Your Brain & Business: The Neuroscience of Great Leaders Srivinvasan S. Pillay

On mindfulness:

Wherever you go, There you are Jon Kabat-Zinn

Mindsight: Change your Brain and your Life Daniel J. Siegel

On talent management:

Workforce of One: Revolutionizing Talent Management Through Customization Susan Cantrell & David Smith

One Page Talent Management: Eliminating Complexity, Adding Value Marc Effron & Miriam Ort



References

- Bargh, J.A., Green, M. & Fitzsimons, G. (2008). The selfish goal: Unintended consequences of intended goal pursuits. *Social Cognition*, 26(5), 534-554.
- Koo, M. & Fishbach, A. (2010). Climbing the goal ladder: How upcoming actions increase level of aspiration. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 1, 1-13.
- Suhler, C.L. & Churchland, P.S. (2009). Control: Conscious and otherwise. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 13 (8), 341-347.
- 4. Dijksterhuis, A. & Aarts, H. (2010). Goals, attention, and (un) consciousness. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61, 467-490.
- Mobbs, D. & McFarland, W. (2010). The neuroscience of motivation. NeuroLeadership Journal, 3, 43-52.
- Berkman, E.T., Lieberman, M.D. & Gable, S.L. (2009). BIS, BAS, and response conflict: Testing predictions of the revised reinforcement sensitivity theory. *Personal Individual Differences*. 46 (5-6), 586– 591.
- 7. Effron, M. & Ort, M. (2010). One page talent management. US: Harvard Business Publishing.
- 8. Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). *Flow: the psychology of optimal experience*. New York, US: HarperCollins.
- 9. Pillay, S.S. (2011). Your brain and business: The neuroscience of great leaders. New Jersey, US: Pearson Education Inc.
- Yerkes, R.M. & Dodson, J.D. (1908). The relation of strength of stimulus to rapidity of habit formation. *Journal of Comparative Neurology and Psychology*, 18, 459-482.
- 11. Hassed, C. (2002). *Know thyself: The stress release programme*. Melb. Aust: Michelle Andersen Publishing.
- Vorhauser-Smith, S. (2011). White Paper: The Neuroscience of learning & development. http://www.pageuppeople.com/resource_ download.htm
- Alhola, P. & Polo-Kantola, P. (2007). Sleep deprivation: Impact on cognitive performance. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 3 (5), 553-567.
- Van der Helm, E., Gujar, N. & Walker, M.P. (2010). Sleep deprivation impairs accurate recognition of human emotions. *Sleep*, 33 (3), 335-342.
- Gujar, N., Yoo, S.S. & Walker, M.P. (2010). The un-rested resting brain: Sleep deprivation alter activity within the default network. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22 (8), 1637-1648.
- Murray-Kolb, L.E. (2011). Iron status and neuropsychological consequences in women of reproductive age: What do we know and where are we headed? *The Journal of Nutrition*, 141 (4), 747-756.
- Spencer, J.P.E. (2010). Beyond antioxidants: The cellular and molecular interactions of flavonoids and how these underpin their actions on the brain. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 69 (2); 244-261.
- Innis, S.M. (2007). Dietary (n-3) Fatty Acids and Brain Development,
- The Journal of Nutrition. 137 (4), 855-860.
- Cotman, C.W. & Berchtold, N.C. (2002). Exercise: a behavioral intervention to enhance brain health and plasticity. *Trends in Neuroscience*, 25 (6), 295-301.
- Foster, P.P., Rosenplatt, K.P., & Kuljis, R.O. (2011). Exercise: Induced cognitive plasticity, implications for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 2 (28), 1-15.
- Rossi, S.J., Buford, T.W., McMillan, J., Kovacs, M.S., & Marshall, E. (2010). Nutritional strategies and immune function. *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, 32, (6), 65–71.
- 22. Pashler, H., Johnston, J.C. & Ruthruff, E. (2001). Attention and performance. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 629-651.
- Bishop, S.R., Lau, M., Shapiro, S., Carlson, L., Anderson, N.D., Carmody, J., Segal, Z.V., Speca, M., Velting, D. & Devins, G. (2004). Mindfulness: A proposed operational definition. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 11 (3), 230-241.

- Zanto, T.P. & Gazzaley, A. (2009). Neural suppression of irrelevant information underlies optimal working memory performance. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29 (10), 3059-3066.
- 25. Shapiro,K.L., Arnell, K.M. & Raymond, J.E. (1997). The attentional blink. *Trends in Cognitive Science*, 1 (8), 291-296.
- 26. Lazar, S.W., Kerr, C.E., Wassermana, R.H., Gray, J.R., Greve, G.R., Treadway, M.T., McGarvey, M., Quinn, B.T. Dusek, J.A.,Benson, J., Rauch, S.L., Moore, C.I., & Fischl, B. (2005). Meditation experience is associated with increased cortical thickness. *Neuroreport*, 16 (17), 1893–1897
- Farb, N.A.S., Segal, Z.V., Mayberg, H., Bean, J., McKeon, D., Fatima,, Z. & Anderson, A.K. (2007). Attending to the present: mindfulness meditation reveals distinct neural modes of self-reference. *Scan*, 2, 313–322.
- 28. Tang, Y.Y., Ma, Y., Wang, J., Fan Y., Feng, S., Lu, Q., Yu, Q., Sui, D., Rothbart, M.K., Fan, M. & Posner, M.I. (2007). Short-term meditation training improves attention and self-regulation. *National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 104, (43) 17152-17156.
- 29. Hassed, C. (2008). Mindfulness, well-being and performance. NeuroLeadership Journal, 1, 1-7.
- Love, A. & Maloney, J. (2009). Mindfulness as capacity: at the threshold of leadership's next wave? *NeuroLeadership Journal*, 2, 1-7.
- Owen, A.M., Hampshire, A., Grahn, J.A., Stenton, R., Dajani, S., Burns, A.S., Howard, R.J., & Ballard, C.G. (2010). Putting brain training to the test. *Nature*, 465 (7299); 775-780.
- Dionne, S.D., Yammarino, F.J., Atwater, L.E. & Spangler, W.D. (2004). Transformational leadership and team performance. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 17 (2), 177-193.
- Rock, D. & Ringleb, A.H. (2009). Defining NeuroLeadership as a field. *NeuroLeadership Journal*, 2, 78-84.
- Vorhauser-Smith, S. (2010). White Paper: The neuroscience of talent management. http://www.pageuppeople.com/resource_ download.htm
- 35. Rock, D. (2008). SCARF: a brain-based model for collaborating with and influencing others. *NeuroLeadership Journal*, 1, 1-9.
- Lieberman, N. & Eisenberger, N. (2008). The pains and pleasures of social life: a social cognitive neuroscience approach. *Neuroleadership Journal*, 1, 1-9.
- 37. Sherman Garr, S. (2010). Collaborative performance management: Improving performance to drive results. *Bersin & Associates Research Bulletin*, 5 (48).
- Saba, J. & Bourke, J. (2010). Employee performance management.: The alpha and omega of talent strategy and business execution. Aberdeen Group.
- Effron, M. & Ort, M. (2010). One page talent management: Eliminating complexity, adding value. US: Harvard Business School Publishing Corporation.
- 40. Audia, P.G. & Locke, E.A. (2003). Benefiting from negative feedback. *Human Resource Management Review*, 13, 631-646
- Kluger, A. N. & DeNisi, A. (1996). The effects of feedback interventions on performance: A historical review, a meta-analysis, and a preliminary feedback intervention theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 119(2), 254–284.
- 42. Atwater, L.E., Brett, J.F. & Charles, A.C. (2007). Multisource feedback: Lessons learned and implications for practice. *Human Resource Management*, 46 (2), 285-307.
- Love, A. & Maloney, J. (2009). Mindfulness as capacity: at the threshold of leadership's next wave? *NeuroLeadership Journal*, 2, 1-7.
- 44. Katzenbach, J.R. & Smith, D.K. (1993). The wisdom of teams: Creating the high performance organization. US: Harvard Business School Press.
- Snape, E. & Redman, T. (2010). HRM practices, organizational citizenship behaviour, and performance: A multi-level analysis. *Journal of Management Studies*, 47, (7), 1219–1247.

THE NEUROSCIENCE OF PERFORMANCE PAGEUP WHITE PAPER



About the Author

Sylvia Vorhauser-Smith is Senior Vice President of Research at PageUp. She is responsible for driving thought leadership in the field of human capital management for global organisations facing cross border expansion and growth.

Vorhauser-Smith has more than 25 years of experience in corporate and entrepreneurial business environments, including positions as Head of Selection and Development at Westpac Banking Corporation, Human Resources Manager for Citibank Limited, and General Manager of Integrated Talent Management for PageUp. Prior to joining PageUp, Vorhauser-Smith was Founder and Chief Executive Officer of consulting firm Talent Edge, specialising in bespoke leadership development and talent management solutions.

She is a regular national and international speaker on neuroscience, talent and human capital management, having addressed audiences in Boston, Singapore, Kuala Lumpur and across Australia. Vorhauser-Smith holds a Bachelor of Business and Graduate Diploma of Psychology from Monash University, Post Graduate Certificate in NeuroLeadership and is currently completing her Master of Science in NeuroLeadership at Middlesex University.



Melbourne

Level 10, 91 William Street Melbourne, VIC, 3000 Australia **P**: +61 (0)3 8677 3777

Sydney

Level 2, 9 Barrack Street Sydney, NSW, 2000 Australia **P**: +61 (0)2 8088 0600

New York

410 Park Avenue 15th Floor, New York, NY, 10022 USA

P: 1800 675 7988

London

71-75 Shelton Street, Covent Garden London, WC2H 9JQ, UK

P: +44 (0)20 7470 8727

Singapore

PageUp Pte Ltd 38B Mosque Street, Singapore 059516 P: +65 9689 5000

Hong Kong

Unit 2912, 29/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

P: +852 9736 3215

Kuala Lumpur

A-5-10 Empire Tower SS16/1, Subang Jaya 47500, Selangor, Malaysia

P: +603 5033 1895

Published August 2010



Contact us to learn more about how **PageUp** can help transform your organisation's multinational talent management initiatives